1	IN THE SUPREME COURT	OF THE STATE OF NEVADA
2		<u> </u>
3	OSCAR A. STANLEY,) No. 39775
4	Appellant,	
5	vs.	
6	THE STATE OF NEVADA,)
7	Respondent.) JAN 02 2003)
8		BA COSKIG ANDLEAS CONTL
9	APPELLANT'S	OPENING BRIEF
10	(Appeal from Judgm	ment of Conviction)
11	MARCUS D. COOPER	STEWART L. BELL
12	CLARK COUNTY PUBLIC DEFENDER 309 South Third Street, #226	CLARK COUNTY DISTRICT ATTORNEY 200 South Third Street
13	Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2610 (702) 455-4685	Las Vegas, Nevada 89155 (702) 455-4711
14	Attorney for Appellant	FRANKIE SUE DEL PAPA
15		Attorney General Nevada Bar No. 000192
16		100 North Carson Street Carson City, Nevada 89701-4717
17		(775) 684–1265
18		Counsel for Respondent
19

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Defendant was charged by way of Amended Information to the 16 following counts: 2 counts of Robbery (Felony - N.R.S. 200.380); 1 count Larceny from the Person (Felony - N.R.S. 205.270); 2 counts of 18 Burglary (Felony - N.R.S. 205.060); 1 count Grand Larceny Auto 19 (Felony - N.R.S. 205.228); 1 count Attempt Murder with Use of a 20 Deadly Weapon (Felony - N.R.S. 200.010, 193.330, 193.165); 1 count 21 Mayhem (Felony - N.R.S. 200.280); 1 count Attempt Robbery, Victim 22 over 65 years of age (Felony - N.R.S. 200.380, 193.167, 193.330), 1 count Attempt Grand Larceny (Felony - N.R.S. 205.220, 205.222, $24 \parallel 193.330$), 1 count Battery with Deadly Weapon causing Substantial 25 Bodily Harm.

After a jury trial, Defendant was found guilty of 2 counts of 27 Robbery, 1 count of Attempt Robbery, Victim over 65 years of age, 1 28 count of Mayhem, 1 count Larceny from the Person, 1 count Battery 1 with a Deadly Weapon causing Substantial Bodily Harm, 1 count 2 Unlawful Taking of an Automobile (a Gross Misdemeanor), and 1 count $3 \parallel$ of Attempt Unlawful Taking of an Automobile, a misdemeanor.

After post-trial motions, the Court dismissed the Unlawful 5 Taking of an Automobile and Attempt Unlawful Taking of an Automobile 6 counts, and dismissed the Age Enhancement for the Attempt Robbery 7 Conviction.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

9

11

14

18

26

27

On October 25, 2001, Detective Herring of the Las Vegas 10 Metropolitan Police Department interrogated Oscar A. (Trans. 3-8-02).Prior to Detective Herring interviewing Oscar 12 Stanley, Las Vegas Metropolitan Police Officer William Wilson gave 13 Stanley his Miranda rights. (Trans. 3-6-02, 1:40 p.m.).

On March 1, 2002, the trial court heard Defendant's motion to 15 suppress these statements. (Trans. 3-1-02). A written Motion to 16 Suppress was filed with the Court in February, 2002, and is attached 17 \parallel in the Appendix on page 013.

given were Defendant contended that the Miranda rights 19 ||incomplete, and that it was doubtful that they were even given since 20 all of the interrogation was taped except for the Miranda warning. 21 Presumably the police turned the tape recorder on after they gave 22 the Miranda warning. Furthermore, the Defendant argued that he could not have voluntarily waived his rights, because he was so 24 limpaired at the time from using drugs that he was incapable of making a free and voluntary waiver.

Defendant's motion to suppress the statement was denied.

Defense counsel presented proposed voir dire questions to the 28 Court that the Defendant wished to use to interview prospective 1 | jurors. (Trans. 3-1-02). The Court denied their use, and later, $2 \parallel$ during the trial but outside the presence of the jury, a record was 3 made of the proposed questions and the Court's reasoning for turning 4 them down. (Trans. 3-8-02).

A copy of these proposed voir dire questions is attached as 6 Exhibit "A", and incorporated herein by reference.

The Appellant, Oscar A. Stanley, is African-American.

5

7

8

15

24

When the jury attendance roll was called on the first day of 9 the trial, March 4, 2002, one juror was absent, Venetia Hymes. $10 \parallel (\text{Trans. } 3-4-02, \text{ p. } 3, \text{ ll. } 17-20)$. Ms. Hymes appeared about fifteen 11 minutes later. (p. 7, 11. 1-6). Counsel were called to the bench, 12 and after a brief discussion, Ms. Hymes was sent back down to the 13 jury room to be assigned to a new jury. Venetia Hymes was an 14 African-American woman.

At the bench, defense counsel vigorously argued against 16 releasing this potential juror. This was addressed in open court, 17 outside the presence of the jury, on March 8, 2002. (Trans. 3-8-02, 18 pp. 68-70). Defense counsel argued that without Ms. Hymes, there 19 were only two African-Americans in the jury pool. The judge 20 insisted there were more, and that, because Ms. Hymes missed the 21 opening remarks of the Court, and the introduction of counsel, that 22 he was justified in dismissing her instead of repeating everything 23 for her benefit.

potential Another African-American woman juror, Pina 25 Washington, was dismissed by the State, through the use of a 26 peremptory challenge. (Trans. 3-5-02, 1:30 p.m., p. 85). Defense 27 counsel approached the bench to indicate that they would be making 28 a record of a <u>Batson</u> challenge later. (Trans. 3-5-02, 1:30 p.m., p.

1 85). This was done, on the record, on March 8, 2002. (Trans. 3-8-2 02, pp. 70-72). The State gave their race-neutral reason for dismissing the juror, and the trial court found there was no <u>Batson</u> 4 violation.

The jury sent out one question while they were deliberating.

(Trans. 3-12-02). The note read, "Related to Count II, (larceny from a person), the question reads, Is it necessary for the jury to agree that both the money and the wallet were taken from Billy Barba to be considered guilty?" This question came up during the morning Law and Motion calendar. Since one prosecutor and one defense attorney from the trial were present, the judge called them up to the bench to discuss the note from the jury. The Court advised counsel that it thought the answer should be no, and that was the message that was sent back to the jury. Subsequently, the jury convicted Stanley on Count II, Larceny from a Person.

Oscar Stanley was convicted of, among other things, Battery with a Deadly Weapon causing Substantial Bodily Harm, a violation of NRS 200.481(2)(e)(2), and Mayhem, a violation of NRS 200.280.

ARGUMENT

I.

STANLEY'S RIGHT TO DUE PROCESS AND RIGHT TO A FAIR TRIAL WERE VIOLATED DURING THE JURY TRIAL PHASE OF THE PROCEEDINGS.

- A. Stanley's right to due process and against self-incrimination was violated when the trial court denied Appellant's motion to suppress his statement.
- B. Stanley's right to due process was violated when the Court responded incorrectly to a jury question about whether the State needed to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that Defendant took the wallet AND lawful money of the United States as it was charged in the Amended Information.

28

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

Α. The United States and Nevada Constitutions provide that in $2\,\parallel$ a criminal prosecution, an accused may not be deprived of liberty 3 without due process of law. (See, U.S. Const. Amend. XIV; Nev. 4 Const. Art. 1 Sec. 8, <u>Drayden v. White</u>, 232 F.3d 704 (9th Cir. $5 \parallel 2000$)). Furthermore, no person shall be compelled to be a witness 6 against himself. (See, U.S. Const. Amend. V, Amend. XIV, Nev. 7 Const. Art. 1 Sec. 8, Application of Guyette, 338 F.Supp. 1069 (D. 8 Nev. 1972).

Oscar Stanley's right to due process and against 10 | incrimination was violated when the trial court denied his motion to 11 suppress his statement to police. This statement was introduced 12 into evidence at trial. This is reversible error.

13

21

In Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 436 (1966), the Supreme Court 14 held "that a person questioned by law enforcement officers after 15 being 'taken into custody or otherwise deprived of his freedom of 16 action in any significant way' must first 'be warned that he has a 17 right to remain silent, that any statement he does make may be used 18 against him, and that he has a right to the presence of an attorney 19 either retained or appointed." Stansbury v. California, 511 U.S. 20 | 319 (1994), quoting Miranda, 384 U.S. at 444.).

The burden is on the government to show that rights were 22 administered and that the defendant agreed to waive them. Miranda $23 \, v. \, Arizona$, 384 U.S. 436, 475 (1966), emphasis added. 24 waiver must be by a preponderance of the evidence. Colorado v. 25 Connelly, 479 U.S. 157, 168 (1986). A determination as to waiver 26 must be done based on the totality of the circumstances surrounding 27 the interrogation. **Moran v. Burbine**, 475 U.S. 412, 421 (1986). The 28 State did not meet this burden at the preliminary hearing stage, at

1 the hearing of Defendant's Motion to Suppress the Statements, nor at 2 trial. 3 At trial, Officer Wilson testified that he did not obtain a 4 written waiver of Miranda rights from Oscar Stanley. He conceded 5 that there was an opportunity to do so, but that he did not. 6 (Trans. 3-6-02, p. 33). 7 He also admits being present during the entire interrogation, 8 but says that other officers had taken charge of the situation, 9 ostensibly preventing him from doing anything further 10 Appellant. And it still seems incredibly strange that while 11 absolutely every incriminating statement that Oscar Stanley had to 12 say was caught on tape, somehow no one thought to turn the machine 13 on when his Miranda rights were being stated to him. 14 It also appears as if the police did have some concerns that 15 the Miranda rights aspect of the interrogation might be suspect. the interrogator, Detective Herring, attempted to 17 "retroactively" give Oscar Stanley his rights. The following was 18 introduced at trial, as part of Exhibit 70 (Trans. 3-8-02, p. 42): 19 I hear ya. Okay. Uhm, I think that's about it. Do you **"**0. 20 remember when, uh...when you first came in here you were talkin' to 21 Officer Wilson ___ around the corner over there? 22 Α. Yeah. I . 23 He, uh...he read ya your Miranda Rights, remember that? Q. 24 Α. Yeah. Не 25 0. You remember him doin' that? 26 Α. Yeah. 27 You understood them. Right? 28 Α. Yeah.

Okay. And that was when you first came in the County Jail?

Uh-huh." Α.

2

3

15

20

28

Here, it appears that Detective Herring is pressuring Defendant 4 STANLEY into admitting that he understood his Miranda rights, but 5 feeding him a statement, and then adding, "Right?" This came at the 6 end of an interview that occupied 27 pages of transcribed testimony. 7 B. The United States and Nevada Constitutions provide that in a criminal prosecution, an accused may not be deprived of liberty 9 without due process of law. (See, U.S. Const. Amend. XIV; Nev. 10 Const. Art. 1 Sec. 8, <u>Drayden v. White</u>, 232 F.3d 704 (9th Cir. 11 (2000)). Furthermore, it is the State's burden to prove every 12 material element of every charged offense beyond a reasonable doubt. 13 (See, NRS 175.191 et. seq., U.S. v. Bernal, 719 F.2d 1475 (9th Cir. 14 Nev. 1983).

Oscar Stanley's right to due process was violated when the 16 trial court answered the jury's question incorrectly, by saying they 17 could find Appellant guilty of the crime of Larceny from a Person 18 even if the jury found that one of the material elements, taking of 19 money, was absent. This constitutes reversible error.

The Court provided the jury with Instruction No. 3 (Appendix p. 21 061) which set out all the charges that Oscar Stanley was accused of 22 committing. Count II, Larceny from a Person, specifically read, 23 "did then and there wilfully, unlawfully, and feloniously, under 24 circumstances not amounting to robbery, with intent to steal or 25 \parallel appropriate to his own use, take from the person of another, to-wit: $26 \parallel \text{BILLY BARBA}$, without his consent, personal property, to-wit: wallet 27 and lawful money of the United States."

The Court also provided the jury with Instruction No. 2 (Appendix p. 064), which read, in relevant part, "The Defendant is 3 presumed innocent until the contrary is proved. This presumption 4 places upon the State the burden of proving beyond a reasonable 5 doubt every material element of the crime charged and that the 6 Defendant is the person who committed the offense." During her 7 closing argument, defense counsel reiterated this instruction, 8 insisting that every material element of each charged crime must be 9 proven by the State for the jury to find Oscar Stanley guilty. $10 \mid (Trans. 3-11-02)$. When the issue came up before the verdict was 11 read, outside the presence of the jury (Trans. 3-12-02), defense 12 counsel noted that the State could have plead Count II as "wallet 13 and/or contents", not "wallet and contents," as they did. That 14 would imply that both wallet and the contents were material elements 15 of the particular crime.

When the Court decided, for the jury, that they did not have to find that Defendant took both items from the victim, 18 rewriting the Information for the State.

16

17 I

19

26

27

This is significant, because nowhere in the record do we ever find that Oscar Stanley had possession of the money that was 21 supposed to be contained in the wallet. Witness Billy Barba states 22 that Oscar Stanley grabbed his wallet. (Trans. 3-6-02 Part 2 P.M. 23 session, p. 45, 11. 21-25, and p. 46, 11. 1-6.) Later in the trial, 24 under cross-examination, he states he never actually saw who took 25∥his wallet. (p. 60, 11. 1-6). Billy Barba also says that he got

The wording in the Information, Count II, actually said "wallet and lawful money of the United 28 States", not "wallet and contents." Appellant contends that both "wallet" and "lawful money of the United States" were thus material elements of the crime.

1 his wallet back, not from Oscar Stanley, but from a gas station 2 attendant. (p. 58, 11. 23-25). And, that when he got his wallet 3 back, there was no money in it. (p. 59, 11. 1-3).

Former Police Officer Edwards, the responding officer to the 5 Billy Barba incident, testified that another wallet was found in the 6 van that belonged to Billy Barba. (Trans. 3-7-02). That wallet 7 contained identification belonging to Oscar Stanley, but no money. Officer Edwards also testified that Billy Barba's wallet contained 9 no money.

It is clear from the jury's question, plus the evidence adduced 11 at trial, that they did not believe Oscar Stanley ever possessed 12 "the lawful money of the United States" that was alleged in the 13 charging Information.

A material element of a crime may be inferred from the State v. Hall, 54 Nev. 213, 13 P.2d 624 (1932), and 16 Williams v. State, 87 Nev. 230, 484 P.2d 1088 (1971). Here, no 17 inference is necessary, since the contrary was explicitly stated -18 at no time did Oscar Stanley have the "lawful money of the United" 19 States" belonging to Billy Barba. Oscar Stanley, did, at some $20\,
lap{l}$ point, possess the wallet belonging to Billy Barba.

When the State fails to prove a material element of a crime 22 beyond a reasonable doubt, but the jury convicts anyway, the conviction must be overturned. **Woodall v. State**, 97 Nev. 235, 627 24 P.2d 402 (1981), and **Fullerton v. State**, 116 Nev. 435, 440, 997 P.2d 807, 810, (2000).

26

10

14

21

25

27

28

2

1

3

4

5

6

8

7

9 10

11

12

20

25

28

STANLEY'S RIGHT TO DUE PROCESS AND RIGHT TO A FAIR TRIAL BY AN IMPARTIAL JURY OF HIS PEERS WAS VIOLATED AT THE VOIR DIRE (JURY SELECTION) PORTION OF THE TRIAL.

- A. Stanley's right to due process and a fair trial was violated when the Court denied Appellant's counsel request to ask its pre-submitted voir dire questions of the jury.
- B. Stanley's right to due process and a fair trial was violated when the Court permitted the State to use a peremptory challenge to dismiss a black juror, a <u>Batson</u> violation.
- C. Stanley's right to due process and a fair trial was violated when the Court dismissed a black juror who arrived in Court about 15 minutes late on the first day before jury selection began, a <u>Batson</u> violation.
- The United States and Nevada Constitutions provide that in 13 a criminal prosecution, an accused may not be deprived of liberty 14 without due process of law. (See, U.S. Const. Amend. XIV; Nev. 15 ||Const. Art. 448 U.S. 38, (1980). 1 Sec. 8, Adams v. Texas, 16 Furthermore, the accused shall enjoy the right to a speedy and 17 public trial by an impartial jury. (See, U.S. Const. Amend. VI, Amend. XIV, Nev. Const. Art. 1 Sec. 8, Gray v. Mississippi, 481 U.S. 19 648 (1987).

 $21\,$ a juror "will consider and decide the facts impartially and 22 conscientiously apply the law as charged by the court." Adams v. 23 Texas, 448 U.S. 38; 45 (1980), cited in Witter v. State, 112 Nev. 24 | 908, 914, 921 P.2d 886, 891 (1996).

The critical concern of jury voir dire is to discover whether

Oscar Stanley's rights to due process and a fair trial were 26 violated when the trial court refused to permit defense counsel to 27 Mask any of its pre-submitted questions to the proposed jurors during

1 voir dire. These questions were properly submitted in advance 2 pursuant to the Eighth Judicial Court Rule 7.70.

3

10

12

16

20

26

The Court did, however, permit the State to ask its one 4 question that they submitted early, one about anyone being 5 particularly sensitive to graphic photographs. (Trans. 3-8-02). 6 The defense tendered no objection to that question. The State 7 misstated, on the record, that it was a question jointly submitted 8 by the State and the defense. It was not. It was not part of the list of questions submitted by the defense. (See Exhibit "A.")

Generally, it is this particular trial court's policy to permit 11 only "follow-up" questions to those asked by the judge.

For example, if someone tells the judge that he works at Nellis 13 Air Force Base, counsel is permitted to say something like, "So you 14 work at Nellis? Do you work with people of different races and 15 ethnic backgrounds there?"

By contrast, if the same juror did not tell the judge where he 17 or she worked, or responded by saying they had never worked, counsel 18 could not ask a question about whether or not this juror interacted 19 with people of different races or ethnic backgrounds.

Appellant contends that the Court's practice of limiting 21 questions to only "follow-up questions", and by categorically 22 denying the chance to ask any questions wherein counsel could learn 23 whether a juror would consider and decide the facts impartially and 24 conscientiously apply the law as charged by the court, denies him of 25 his due process right to a fair trial and impartial jury.

In preserving this objection, defense counsel asked for the 27 proposed questions to be put on the record outside the presence of 28 the jury. This was done. Additionally, the Court, outside the 1 presence of the jury, went through all of defense counsel's proposed 2 questions, summarily ridiculing and dismissing them. (Trans. 3-8-3 (02).

The scope of jury voir dire is within the sound discretion of 5 the trial court and will be given great deference by the Supreme <u>Cunningham v. State</u>, 94 Nev. 128, 575 P.2d 936 (1978). 7 However, a decision to permit defense to ask no questions unless $8 \parallel$ they relate to one the judge asked previously goes beyond sound discretion and violates a defendant's constitutional right to a fair Furthermore, ridiculing defense counsel, even outside the 11 presence of the jury, evinces abuse of judicial discretion.

12

22

В. The United States and Nevada Constitutions provide that in 13 a criminal prosecution, an accused may not be deprived of liberty 14 without due process of law. (See, U.S. Const. Amend. XIV; Nev. 15 Const. Art. 1 Sec. 8, Adams v. Texas, U.S. 38, (1980). 448 16 Furthermore, the Equal Protection Clause of the United States 17 Constitution forbids utilizing a peremptory challenge to exclude a 18 juror on the basis of race or gender. (See, U.S. Const. Amend. VI 19 and XIV, Nev. Const. Art. 1 Sec. 8, Batson v. Kentucky, 476 U.S. 79 (1986), <u>J.E.B. v. Alabama ex rel. T.B.</u>, 511 U.S. 21 Washington v. State, 112 Nev. 1067, 922 P.2d 547 (1996).

In <u>Purkett v. Elem</u>, 514 U.S. 765, 767 (1995), cited in <u>King v.</u> 23 State, 116 Nev. 349, 353, 998 P.2d 1172, 1174-75 (2000), the United 24 States Supreme Court outlined the steps required for a Batson 25 challenge. First, the opponent of a peremptory challenge must 26 demonstrate a prima facie case of racial discrimination. Second, 27 the burden shifts to the proponent of the challenge to express a 28 race-neutral explanation for the challenge. Third, the district $1 \parallel$ court must determine whether the explanation was a mere pretext and 2 whether the opponent successfully proved racial discrimination. If 3 these issues are resolved in favor of the proponent, 4 constitutional attack on the peremptory challenge is rejected. 5 Hernandez v. New York, 500 U.S. 352, 359 (1991), cited in King, at 6 353.

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