#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

2

1

5 3 ·

3

4

6

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

5 ∥ OSCAR A. STANLEY,

Appellant,

| v.

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Respondent.

ORIGINAL FILED

Case No. 39775

MAR 03 2003

CLERK OF SUPREME COURT
BY LLULL CL C C C
DEPUTY CLERK

RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

Appeal From Judgment of Conviction Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County

MARCUS D. COOPER Clark County Public Defender Nevada Bar No. 001879 309 South Third Street, Suite 226 Post Office Box 552610 Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2610 (702) 455-4685

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

#### **ARGUMENT**

I

# THE DEFENDANT'S RIGHT TO DUE PROCESS AND A FAIR TRIAL WERE NOT VIOLATED DURING THE JURY TRIAL PHASE OF THE PROCEEDINGS

A. The District Court Did Not Commit Error When It Denied Defendant's Motion to Suppress.

On March 1, 2002, District Court Judge Donald Mosley ruled that statements

9.

made by defendant Stanley were admissible despite the defense's objections that the defendant's <u>Miranda</u> rights were violated. The evidence presented by the defendant in support of his argument centers around the detectives failure to obtain a written waiver of <u>Miranda</u> rights from the defendant, and the failure to record the waiver. These arguments do not support the defendant's argument that his rights to due process and against self-incrimination were violated.

The government has the burden to prove that the defendant's waiver of his 5<sup>th</sup> Amendment Miranda rights was made voluntarily, knowingly, and intelligently. Falcon v. State, 110 Nev. 530, 534, 874 P.2d 772, 775 (1994). The State must meet this burden by a preponderance of the evidence. Scott v. State, 92 Nev. 552, 554, 554 P.2d 735, 736-37 (1976) (citing Lego v. Twomey, 404 U.S. 477, 92 S.Ct. 619 (1972).

The State of Nevada met its burden to prove waiver of the defendant's 5<sup>th</sup> Amendment rights. The question of the admissibility of a confession is primarily a factual question addressed to the district court: where that determination is supported by substantial evidence, it should not be disturbed on appeal. Echavarria v. State, 108 Nev. 734, 743, 839 P.2d 589, 595 (1992). At trial, Detective Wilson testified that he read the defendant his Miranda rights. (Trans. 3-6-02, p.28). The Detective stated that the defendant indicated that he understood his rights and waived them. (Trans. 3-6-02, p.29). By this testimony alone, the State has provided substantial evidence to meet its burden of preponderance of the evidence.

However, in an abundance of caution, the detectives re-questioned the defendant, so that his <u>Miranda</u> waiver could be recorded. (AA, p. 50-51). During this exchange, the defendant stated on the record that his <u>Miranda</u> rights had been read and that he understood them. This was performed even though there is no requirement that the police record the admonishment of Miranda rights provided to a defendant. <u>Jimenez v. State</u>, 105 Nev. 337, 775 P.2d 694 (1989).

Based upon the actions of these detectives, the State has clearly met its burden in establishing that the defendant's waiver of his <u>Miranda</u> rights was made

1	voluntarily, knowingly, and intelligently. Thus, the District Court's order denying the	
2	defendant's Motion to Suppress should be upheld.	
3 4	B. The District Court Responded Correctly to the Jury Question About Larceny From the Person.	
5	In Count Two of the Information filed December 31, 2001, the Defendant was	
6	charged with Larceny from the Person, pursuant to N.R.S. 205.270. NRS 205.270	
7	provides:	
:8	"Every person who, under circumstances not amounting to robbery, shall, with	
9	intent to steal or appropriate to his own use, take from the person of another, without his consent, any money, property or thing of value, shall be punished by imprisonment in the state prison for not more than 14 years."	
10		
11	NRS 205.2195 describes property in the context of larceny crimes. The statute	
12	defines property as:	
13	1. Personal goods, personal property and motor vehicles; 2. Money pegotiable instruments and other items listed in NRS 205.260	
14 15	1. Personal goods, personal property and motor vehicles; 2. Money, negotiable instruments and other items listed in NRS 205.260. 3. Livestock, domesticated animals and domesticated birds; and 4. Any other item of value, whether or not the item is listed in NRS 205.2175 to 205.2707, inclusive.	
16	NRS 205.2195.	
17	In his opening brief, the Defendant alleges that reversible error occurred when	
18	the jury found the defendant guilty of larceny from the person without finding that one	
19	of the material elements, taking of money, was present. This is an incorrect statement	
20	of the law.	
21	Nevada law is settled that, to constitute larceny, "there must exist in the mind of	
22	the perpetrator, at the time of the taking, the specific intent to permanently deprive the	
23	owner of his <b>property</b> ." Harvey v. State, 78 Nev. 417, 375 P.2d 225 (1962)	
24	[Emphasis added]. Additionally, NRS 205.270 requires the taking of any money,	
25	property or thing of value.	
26	In the instant case, the jury was given an instruction that provided a definition	
27	of the crime of larceny from the person. AA, p. 000072. That instruction was taken	
28	directly from NRS 205.270. During their deliberations, the jury asked a question of	

the judge in relation to this instruction. The question specifically stated, "Is it necessary for the jury to agree that both the money <u>and</u> the wallet were taken from Billy Barba to be considered guilty?" (Trans. 3-12-02, p. 3). The Honorable Judge Donald Mosley responded to this question by writing "No" on the piece of paper and having the question returned to the jury. (Trans. 3-12-02, p. 4).

Clearly, based upon the established law of the State of Nevada, this was the correct response to the question. The State is not required to prove that the defendant specifically took money from the victim in this case, as taking of money is not a material element of the crime. The State is only required to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the defendant took property or any thing of value from the victim.

Accordingly, the District Court responded correctly to the question presented by the jury and did not violate the defendant's right to due process. This claim should be denied.

H

THE DEFENDANT'S RIGHT TO DUE PROCESS AND RIGHT TO A FAIR TRIAL WERE NOT VIOLATED DURING THE VOIR DIRE PORTION OF THE TRIAL

#### A. The District Court Properly Exercised Its Discretion By Denying Defendant's Pre-Submitted Voir Dire Ouestions

The Constitution does not require a judge to use the defendant's preferred screening questions. Mu'Min v. Virginia, 500 U.S. 415, 111 S.Ct. 1899 (1991). The conduct of voir dire necessarily is committed to the sound discretion of the trial court "because the 'determination of impartiality, in which demeanor plays such an important part, is particularly within the province of the trial judge." Ristiano v. Ross, 424 U. S. 589 (1976)(quoting Rideau v. Louisiana, 373 U.S. 723, 733, 83 S.Ct, 1417, 1423 (1963). "Of necessity," the voir dire examination must be left to the sound discretion of trial judges. Connors v. United States, 158 U.S. 408 (1895); Ham

v. South Carolina, 409 U.S. 524 (1973). As noted in Rosales-Lopez v. United States, 451 U.S. 182, 188 (1981), regulation of voir dire traditionally has been committed to the sound discretion of the trial judge. Part and parcel of deference to the trial court's conduct of voir dire is a reluctance to second-guess the court's decision to refuse inquiry into certain matters. United States v. Lancaster, 96 F.3d 734 (4<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1996).

In the Defendant's Opening Brief, the defendant argues that the district court's decision to permit only "follow up" questions denies him of his due process right.

The law of the State of Nevada directly contradicts this argument. NRS 175.031 states:

The court shall conduct the initial examination of prospective jurors, and defendant or his attorney and the district attorney are entitled to supplement the examination by such further inquiry as the court deems proper. Any supplemental examination must not be unreasonably restricted.

Clearly, the District Court is allowed to make the opening inquiries of the prospective jurors. The District Court allowed both the State of Nevada and the defendant to explore potential issues after the Court completed its inquiry. The District Court allowed defense counsel to question the jurors individually, even though this examination was supplemental in nature.

Additionally, the District Court reviewed the questions submitted by the defendant and incorporated the issues raised in these questions into the Court's inquiry of the potential jurors. (Trans. 3-8-02, p. 72-86). The record demonstrates that the voir dire conducted by the trial judge was sufficient to ensure that the Petitioner's jury was able to vote impartially on the evidence and the law presented at trial.

The defendant's right to a fair trial and due process were not infringed upon by the District Court's voir dire procedure. Thus, this claim should be denied.

> B. The Court Properly Allowed the State of Nevada To Utilize A Peremptory Challenge to Dismiss Prospective Juror Pina Washington

Defendant asserts that the district court erred in allowing the State to make use

of one of its peremptory challenges to dismiss Pina Washington, an African-American venire person. (Trans. 3-8-02, p. 70). Defendant's allegation is without merit.

Batson v. Kentucky, 476 U.S. 79, 106 S.Ct. 1712 (1984) and its progeny have developed a three prong test for determining when a objection to a peremptory challenge should be upheld on the basis of racial discrimination. <u>Doyle v. State</u>, 112 Nev. 879, 887, 921 P.2d 901, 907 (1996); <u>Purkett v. Elem</u>, 514 U.S. 765, 115 S.Ct. 1769 (1995). First, a defendant must make a prima facie showing of racial discrimination. In order to establish this, a defendant must meet a three-part inquiry:

To establish such a case, the defendant **first** must show that he is a member of a cognizable racial group, (citations omitted), and that the prosecutor has exercised peremptory challenges to remove from the venire members of the defendant's race. **Second**, the defendant is entitled to rely on the fact, as to which there can be no dispute, that peremptory challenges constitute a jury selection practice that permits "those to discriminate who are of a mind to discriminate." (Citation omitted). **Finally**, the defendant must show that these facts and any other relevant circumstances raise an inference that the prosecutor used that practice to exclude the venire men from the petit jury on account of their race. This combination of factors in the empanelling of the petit jury, as in the selection of the venire, raises the necessary inference of purposeful discrimination.

Batson at 96 (emphasis added).

If a prima facie showing is made, the burden then shifts to the party who exercised the peremptory challenge to tender a race-neutral explanation for the strike. Doyle at 887. If such an explanation is provided, the court must then determine whether it is "merely a pretext for purposeful racial discrimination." Doyle at 887.

In the instant case, defendant was unable to establish a prima facie showing that the State excluded jurors based upon their race. Defendant objected to the peremptory

challenge of one juror who was African-American. (Trans. 3-8-02, p. 70). Although Defendant in his opening brief may assert that he has made a prima facie showing by alleging that he is a member of a cognizable group and that the prosecutor dismissed a prospective jury member of this group, the prima facie inquiry does not end there. Pursuant to the test proffered by <u>Batson</u> and its progeny for showing a prima facie case, Defendant must also assert that the use of peremptory challenges are inherently prejudicial and that the circumstances surrounding the peremptory challenge raise an inference that the prosecutor purposefully excluded the African American venire person because of their race. Defendant failed to address this last prong of the test.

With regard to that last prong, the record shows that the circumstances surrounding Pina Washington being excused from the panel do not lend support to an inference that the prosecutor excluded her solely based upon race. The district court inquired of Ms. Washington whether she had any family members involved in the criminal justice process. (Trans. 3-5-02, p. 72). The prospective juror stated that her older brother was charged with robbery in Nevada, and served more than five years in Nevada State Prison before escaping. (Trans. 3-5-02, p. 73-74). Ms. Washington also stated that she believed her brother's ordeal was unfair because he was not released when he should have been. (Trans 3-5-02, p. 75-76). Additionally, Ms. Washington is employed as a legal secretary at the Las Vegas law firm of Kummer, Kaempfer, Bonner and Renshaw. (Trans 3-5-02, p. 77).

Thus, Defendant's mere assertion that one peremptory challenge exercised was used to strike African Americans does not satisfy the prima facie showing prong of the <u>Batson</u> test. Therefore, no <u>Batson</u> violation occurred.

Moreover, there was an African American juror seated on this jury. If the State were using race as the basis for exclusion of jurors, the State could have exercised a peremptory challenge against that juror. (Trans 3-8-02, p. 71-72).

However, even if this Court were to find that Defendant did establish a prima facie showing, he is still unable to establish a <u>Batson</u> violation. After a prime facie

showing is demonstrated, the burden shifts to the excusing party to provide an explanation for exercising the peremptory challenge. In the instant matter, the State provided race-neutral explanations for excusing the juror.

The prosecutor stated the following with respect to Ms. Washington:

First of all, she is a paralegal at Kummer and Kaempfer. It has been our experience that sometimes when people know just enough about law, that they try to manipulate the process. So it's our preference not to have lawyers, legal types paralegals on our jury, first of all.

types paralegals on our jury, first of all.

Second of all, and probably the biggest reason, was her expression of how distastefully she felt her brother was handled by the judicial system. He had been sentenced to Nevada Department of Prisons for five years, prosecuted

by this very office

The allegation by the potential juror was that he had been retained past his appropriate sentence, that somehow he had escaped and was now being detained again what she felt was inappropriately, and should have never been redetained for an escape and, essentially, prosecuted by our office.

(Trans. 3-8-02, p. 70-71).

Clearly, the State provided race-neutral explanations. Moreover, the prosecutor's explanations will be presumed as race-neutral unless discriminatory intent is inherent in the prosecution's explanation. *See Purkett*, 514 U.S. at 768, 115 S.Ct. at 1771.

Once race-neutral explanations are submitted, the district court must then determine whether the prosecutor's reasons were valid and not pretextual. In this case, since the State provided race-neutral explanations that were not pretextual, the district court correctly denied Defendant's objections based upon a Batson violation.

In reviewing the denial of a <u>Batson</u> challenge, the reviewing court should give great deference to the determining court. <u>Hernandez v. New York</u>, 500 U.S. 352, 364, 111 S.Ct. 1859, 1868-9 (1991). The reasoning for such a standard is the trial court is in the position to best assess whether from the "totality of the circumstances" that racial discrimination is occurring. <u>Id.</u> In the present case, the trial court found no racial discrimination and overruled the objections. Defendant has not come forward to demonstrate that the trial court abused its discretion. Thus, this issue should be dismissed.

#### C. The District Court Properly Dismissed Venetia Hayes, a Prospective Juror Who Arrived Fifteen Minutes Late On The First Day Of Jury Selection.

In his opening brief, the defendant claims that he was due process of law and a fair trial due to the District Court's dismissal of a prospective juror who arrived fifteen minutes late. However, the defendant presented no substantive law to support this argument. Instead, the defendant argues that it would have less than one minute to restart the entire proceedings for the benefit of this one juror. The State disagrees.

"A criminal trial is, even in the best of circumstances, a complicated affair to manage. The proceedings are dependent in the first instance on the most elementary sort of considerations, e.g., the health of the various witnesses, parties, attorneys, jurors, etc., all of whom must be prepared to arrive at the courthouse at set times."

<u>United States v. Jorn</u>, 400 U.S. 470, 479, 91 S.Ct. 547, 554 (1971).

Although the defendant may in some circumstances have a "right to have his trial completed by a particular tribunal", <u>United States v. Jorn</u>, 400 U.S. at 484, that right must often give way to competing concerns such as the need for judicial efficiency. <u>United States v. Gay</u>, 967 F.2d 322 (9<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1992).

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